

From Zero to Xena: The Ring of Change Saga by T.F. Wright

© 2014. Cover Design by AndyCovers. Photography by Area Orion. Modeling by Jenny Poussin.

Chapter One

“Sorry,” Zoe mumbled, after tripping over someone’s gym bag while stepping into the subway car. The owner of the bag, a man with a blond crew cut and muscles that bulged out of his tight fitting tank top, merely looked up and frowned a little in response. Then he resumed playing his music – heavy metal so heavy that Zoe could hear it blasting through his ear buds.

There weren’t any open seats, so Zoe headed to the back of the car, placing her back against the wall. She pulled the hood of her oversized hoodie sweatshirt over her face, and looked down at her feet.

Zoe got out a few stops later, slowly trudged up the steps, and headed north a few blocks. She couldn’t miss the big, red sign for Rod’s gym, though she paced back and forth in front of the entrance for a full five minutes before she went inside.

“Hello, how can I help you? Interested in a monthly membership?” the slender woman behind the counter asked.

“No, actually, I’ve got a session with Jim,” she said, swallowing her words as she spoke.

“What’s that? Speak up, darling, I didn’t quite catch that with all the music in here.”

“I’m here to see Jim,” Zoe said slowly.

“Alright, he’s all the way in the back room.”

Zoe slowly made her way past the rows of treadmills and workout machines, most of them occupied by sweaty, grunting men. When the rows reached their end, Zoe found a door. That was a relief – she hated the idea of working out around other people. They’d just be silently judging her.

Inside was a room containing large rubber balls, jump ropes and a few small sets of weights. All the walls had mirrors, and all of the mirrors reflected an image that looked familiar.

“Are you Jim?” Zoe asked.

“Sure am,” he replied, the loudness of his voice causing her to wince a little. “Say – have I met you before?”

“No,” Zoe answered truthfully, looking down at her feet and hoping he wouldn’t recognize her.

“Wait a minute – I know, I saw you on the subway earlier,” Jim said. “You tripped over my bag, you big klutz.”

“I’m…I’m terribly sorry,” Zoe mumbled.

“Hey! I’m just teasing,” Jim said. “So, anyway – what brings you to Rod’s?”

“My parents got me a gift certificate for a personal trainer,” Zoe replied.

“Ah, so you’re my six o’clock,” Jim said, his expression falling a little bit. “I’ve been getting a lot of clients that way recently. Did you bring workout clothes?”

“…Yes,” Zoe said, after much hesitation. She had hoped, on their first day, they wouldn’t actually need to exercise.

“Well?” Jim asked. “Why not go put ‘em on? The lady’s locker room is that way.”

Zoe didn’t reply verbally, but she hung her head low in frustration and headed to the locker. She paused a little before entering, taking a few deep breaths, trying to banish memories of her high school humiliations.

Once inside, Zoe found herself alone. What a lucky break, she thought, and quickly started pulling off her sweatshirt and sweat pants. Her workout shorts fit, though the elastic dug into her fleshy hips painfully. Her sports bra, unfortunately, wouldn’t quite hook together.

As her weak arms were straining against the vast expanse of her back fat, two tall women walked into the locker room. Before Zoe saw them, she heard them laughing about something, but she didn’t know what. When she turned around, she saw the women taking off their clothes and casually heading into the showers.

Looking at their perfect toned bodies, Zoe could feel her cheeks burning with a mixture of shame and jealousy. Her own shapeless, flabby form was hopelessly inadequate compared to theirs, and she had been reminded of that fact so many times growing up. Today at least, she had merely been ignored. With a frustration-fueled tug, she hooked her bra together, threw on a tank top, and headed outside.

“So,” Jim began when she returned, “why don’t you tell me your fitness goals? BMI improvement? Training for a 5K run? Softball league, maybe?”

“I don’t know,” Zoe said. “Coming here wasn’t my idea.”

“Ah,” Jim said, his suspicions confirmed. “You know, that’s ok. Like I said, I’ve had a lot of that recently, getting a gift card. I don’t want you to push yourself if you’re not up for it on your first day, so why don’t we start with something easy and fun? You know, if you think of this as a game, it’s easier to motivate yourself.”

“Alright,” she said, glancing at her wooden wrist watch as Jim pulled out one of the blue bouncy balls. She could be watching a cooking show, she thought to herself, instead of torturing herself with this.

“Think fast,” Jim said, bouncing the ball towards her. Zoe raised her hands to try to catch it, but the ball bounced from her palms into her face. She stumbled backwards, tripping on one of the jump ropes in the corner of the room and falling to the ground. 

Zoe’s thick rimmed glasses fell off her face, one of the lenses cracking. Tears began streaming down her chubby cheeks as she tried and failed to pull her rotund body up.

“Ouch! Sorry about that,” Jim said, trying to help Zoe to her feet. As he helped lift her by arms, he could feel his fingers sinking into her flesh. The texture was so soft it reminded him of a water balloon.

“I didn’t even want to come here. My parents just kept harping and harping about my weight…” she said, trying to choke back sobs.

“Hey it’s alright,” Jim said, wrapping her up in a hug. He towered over her in height, so her head rested on his sculpted pectorals. “No worries. You can just head home now, if you’d like. I’ll give you a refund for all the sessions they prepaid.”

“I’m…I’m ok,” Zoe replied. To nearly every man she met, she was all but invisible. In that context, Jim’s hug was something very special, and she didn’t want to head out just yet. “If I go back so early, my parents will know I didn’t really work out.”

“I guess you’re not much for actually working out then, huh?” Jim asked. “Hey, you know what? I’m guessing you’re a real computer whiz, right?”

“Well, I don’t know about that. I guess I’m pretty good,” she hedged. “I’m probably a bit better than I give myself credit for. The Dunning Kruger effect states that individuals on the high end of the bell curve can often under-estimate…”

“I’ve been having a problem with setting up our web site,” Jim interrupted. “Want to take a look?”

“Sure,” Zoe said. She used her one good glasses lens to peer at Jim’s laptop, while he excused himself to grab an energy drink.

“Ten bucks says you’ve got another one-and-done,” said Rod, the gym’s owner, as he passed Jim in the hall.

“Yep,” Jim said. “Dad, the little prepaid promo you did has given me quite a lot like her.”

“But less than half ask for a refund,” his father pointed out. “We’re making money for nothing. Can’t beat that.”

“But they don’t care about working out! It’s just so depressing,” Jim complained.

“Who would you rather have: a girl like that, who lets you sit on your butt or doesn’t show at all, or a real athlete who makes you sweat your ass off just to keep up with her?” Rod asked.

“Damn, the second one, for sure. I don’t want to babysit people who’d rather not be here. My perfect girl could be my protégé, someone who could make me proud.”

“Well, I like that two thirds of the people who have memberships with us never show up,” Rod says. “Keeps overhead low.” Jim just shook his head in reply.

“Hey, hey,” Jim said to Zoe, when he returned to the private nook in the back of the gym. “How’s it going?”

“Pretty good,” Zoe replied, nervously chewing on one of the edges of her dark hair. “I can set up a matchbox collage for your pictures.”

“Woah, pretty sweet,” Jim said, seeing the pictures flash by on the screen. “Can you do more stuff like that? Like online ordering and stuff?”

“Of course,” Zoe said.

“Full refund, I insist,” Jim said. “In fact, scratch that. Full refund, and a free lifetime pass here if you can be our resident computer expert.” He knew his father wouldn’t complain about that – someone to help him with computers for free, who would never actually tax his precious gym equipment.

“I’d like that,” Zoe said.

“Well, Miss Expert, would you mind taking a look at the computer near the front desk? It locks up every time we try to sort customers by date.”

Not only did Zoe fix that problem, but she helped fix his glitchy email client, and even helped set up Rod’s phone.

“Damn,” Jim said, after she had worked her magic. “Free gym membership just isn’t enough. I wish there was something else I could give you for your trouble.”

“You can give me your phone number,” she said in her head over and over. But as she looked up and down Jim’s sculpted body, she lost her nerve. He could have any woman he wanted, she thought. Why would he ever want her?

“I guess you can have whatever’s been in the lost and found. Nobody ever claims this stuff,” Jim said, hoisting up the large cardboard box from behind the counter. “Help yourself.”

“Thanks,” Zoe said. Inside were a few pairs ratty gym shorts, a single smelly shoe, and a small purse with artificial gold bling emblazoned on it. It was empty inside, save a gaudy looking ring in the shape of two lips, with black fake diamonds encrusting it.

Zoe raised her eyes, looking back at Jim. He was busy making a slick sales pitch to a young woman who had just walked in – a woman who was so thin she was nearly invisible.

“At least he gave me something to remember him by,” she thought, taking the ring from the purse and placing it inside her sweaty palm. She gathered her things from the locker room and slipped out the front door, hoping he wouldn’t notice her. He didn’t disappoint – in that regard, at least. She knew she’d never be back.

Though she hadn’t worked up a sweat with a workout, the stress of the day and the nervous jitters of spending so much time with Jim had left her body drenched. Showering in the gym just wasn’t an option, so she decided to slip into the tub as soon as she got home.

“How was the workout?” her mother asked when she stepped into the front door. “I know this was hard for you, pumpkin, but I just want to know I’m here if…”

“Don’t want to talk about it, Mom,” Zoe said, and headed for the bathroom.

Zoe loved taking baths – especially bubble baths. When the water rose high enough at the surface was obscured, it was as if her embarrassing body didn’t even exist. Zoe closed her eyes, pretending that Jim had given her the ring out of romantic affection. It looked too big to fit on her finger, but when she slipped it on, it seemed to fit just right.

Chapter Two

Zoe awoke before dawn, her body filled with nervous energy and her heart racing. She tried to calm her nerves by playing a mecha combat game on her phone, but she lost three “arena bouts” in a row. She growled a little, tossed the phone behind her, and headed outside.

“You’re up early,” Zoe’s mother said, as she saw her daughter skip down the stairs. “Going to tell me how the gym went yesterday?”

“It went fine,” Zoe said, a little defensively.

“Fine?” her mother asked. “Does that mean you’re going back?”

“Yeah, I’m going back today,” Zoe said. “I’m going back right now, actually,” she said. She ran upstairs, re-packed her gym bag, and changed from her loose fitting pajamas into a T shirt and jeans.

“Have fun, honey,” her mom said casually.

~

Jim finished his usual morning workout, and then readied the gym for opening time. At least, he thought, there weren’t any clients for him this early in the morning. Maybe he could even get in a few extra reps before he had to get busy.

“Hiya,” Zoe said, as Jim opened the door.

“Hey, I sure didn’t expect to see you again so soon,” Jim said. “To be honest, I wasn’t sure you’d ever come back.”

“Oh, I couldn’t have been that bad,” Zoe replied.

“Sorry again about the glasses,” he said, noticing the Zoe wasn’t wearing any today.

“What glasses?” Zoe asked, laughing a little.

“The glasses you broke yesterday, silly. I’m guessing you’ve got your contacts in today.”

“I don’t wear contacts, either,” Zoe said, looking puzzled.

“Did you come back to help with computers some more?” Jim asked, assuming that Zoe was just denying the incident out of embarrassment.

“No, to work out. I’ve got my lifetime pass with you, right?”

“Right…go get changed, and we’ll get started,” Jim said.

~

“I want to try that ball bouncing thing again,” Zoe said, once they were in their private little nook again.

“Really?” Jim asked.

“Really, really,” Zoe said. “Get back on the horse, right?”

“Right,” Jim said. “Alright, you ready?”

“Yeah,” Zoe said. Jim tossed the ball at her, but her hands moved to quickly, batting it away towards her feet.

“Don’t worry. It’s trickier than it looks,” Jim said encouragingly.

“Did you catch it on your first try?” Zoe asked.

“Maybe,” Jim said, grinning a little. What he didn’t say was that every one of his clients had caught it on their first try. It was just a big, bouncing rubber ball – what could possibly be so difficult? Her hand-eye coordination must be atrocious. “All right, here it comes,” he said, and bounced it towards her, as slow as he could.

Zoe lunged forwards, and grabbed the ball. “I got it!’ she cheered. Zoe had fallen to her knees, causing her tank top to ride up and expose her spongy-looking belly. In fact, to Jim, her figure resembled the big ball she was so jubilantly clutching. At least she’s trying, Jim thought to himself.

“Want to try to for two in a row?” Jim asked.

“Sure,” Zoe said. This time the ball popped out of her hands as she grabbed it, but she managed to scoop it up before it landed.

“Bounce that against the wall for a while,” Jim said, as he looked behind him. “Someone new just walked in, I gotta take care of them.”

“No prob,” she said. “Shut the door on the way out, if you can. I don’t want anything to break my focus.”

~

Twenty fast-talking minutes and a new gym membership later, Jim returned to the back of the gym. As he opened the door the back room, he was greeted with a strange sound: a very fast paced, rhythmic slap.

Jim couldn’t be more surprised at what he saw: Zoe was bouncing the ball against the wall at near-lightning speeds. The blue, rubber thing was almost a blur.

“Wow, congrats!” Jim said, giving Zoe a pat on the back. Startled, she missed the ball, causing it fall to the ground and land near Jim’s feet.

“Sorry,” she said.

“My fault, I shouldn’t have bugged you when you were in ‘the zone,” Jim replied. “You’ve improved quite a bit,” he said.

“Nah,” Zoe said. “I’d wager I’m still about the same. Thanks, though. Did you make the sale?”

“I always make the sale,” Jim replied proudly, his hands on his hips. “So, you ready to take a break?”

“Heck, no,” Zoe said. “What else can I try? Maybe one of the machines in the main area?”

“You want to try one of the machines?” Jim asked.

“Sure, it’s kind of lonely back here, ‘specially if you have to go do your salesman thing,” Zoe said.

“Alright. Take a stab at one of those treadmills,” Jim said, his brow furrowing a little. Zoe followed up towards the machine, and the rails rattled noisily with the weight of each of her heavy steps. Something odd was going on here, but he couldn’t quite put his finger on what. Why was Zoe acting so different?

A few minutes later, Rod walked in.

“Hey Dad – you owe me ten bucks,” Jim said under his breath, jerking his thumb in Zoe’s direction.

“Ten bucks?” Rod asked. “I don’t remember that.”

“Last night, you bet me ten bucks she was one-and-done for workout session, but she’s already back,” Jim said, as they walked together towards his father’s office behind the desk.

“What I remember was that girl was crushing on you,” Rod said. “Doing all those favors for you, the flirting, come on. No wonder she came back to see you again.”

“No way,” Jim said. “Really?” He remembered favors, sure – but flirting? She was so shy she could barely say her name.

“Oh yeah, big time. And I don’t need to remind you – never get involved with a client,” Rod said, his voice becoming serious.

“How desperate do you think I am?” Jim replied. “Don’t worry – I’m not interested in the least.”

“Good to hear. By the way, you still haven’t found a girl to represent the gym at the lady’s charity 5K tomorrow,” his father reminded. “We’ve fielded a runner every year for the past two decades. I’d like to finally get first place for once.”

“Don’t worry, Dad. I’ll find someone.”

A few minutes later, Jim headed back to check on Zoe, only to be greeted by yet another surprise. This time, it wasn’t an odd noise that concerned him, but rather, the absence of one.

Zoe was still going strong on the treadmill – if anything, her pace had increased – but the noisily rattling had ceased. Jim first assumed she must have knocked a screw loose, but then noticed that the bars on the side of the machine weren’t shaking at all.

“Mind getting me a water? Forgot to pack mine,” Zoe said, adjusting the sweatband on her brow. A sweatband that she wasn’t wearing before, he noticed.

“Sure,” he said, and grabbed one from the cooler.

“Out of Muscle Milk?” she asked.

“Nope, I’ve got a few,” Jim replied.

“Why’d you bring me water?”

“Because you asked for water, Zoe. You wanna take a break? I think it’s going to your head.”

“Sure,” she said. “But I asked you for Muscle Milk,” she said with a wink, and playfully slapped him on the arm.

“You asked for water,” Jim said, slapping her back. As his fingers touched her arm, his jaw dropped, and he let his fingers linger far longer than was polite. 

“Your arm…” he said. It wasn’t quite firm, but it was quite obviously not the same appendage he had touched yesterday. “It’s so toned…”

Come to think of it, could Zoe – a woman who could barely rise to her feet on her own – really handle a treadmill? She seemed slimmer than he remembered. Her body was still jiggling a little with each step, but much less than it did yesterday while she was walking.

“Heh, I guess you really are whipping me into shape,” Zoe said, after Jim’s eyes remained glued to her body. “You’re a great trainer.”

“Yes I am,” Jim said proudly. The explanation was implausible, but it was also one that his ego wouldn’t let him refuse. Now that it had taken full possession of his mind, he wanted to see just how far it could go. “Want to go run a 5K tomorrow?”

“A 5K?” she asked. She hesitated for a moment – was she really ready for something that arduous?

“It’s for charity,” Jim added. “Winner gets $5000 for the cause of their choice.”

“All right, you talked me into it,” Zoe said.

Chapter Three

Zoe stuck out like a sore thumb in the lineup. Though she had lost a considerable amount of weight in two days, she was still easily the fattest one among the three dozen women near the starting line. All of them were lithe and spindly, their spandex running outfits blousing around their boyish bodies.

“Now, there’s no shame in stopping if you get tired,” Jim said as he leaned in from the sidelines, a little concerned that he had pushed her to do too much, too quickly. “You take care of yourself, okay?”

“Jim, I’ll be fine, I’m not some delicate little flower,” Zoe said.

Jim looked over his shoulder and saw his father, scowling a little. He had blown his top when he heard that Zoe was his son’s pick for the race. Just to stick it to his old man, Jim leaned in and gave Zoe a kiss on the cheek.

When the starter’s pistol went off, Zoe crouched down and ducked, looking startled. Had she never been to a race, Jim wondered? Seeing the other women take off brought Zoe to her senses, and she began the race in last place.

“Pace yourself,” Jim shouted, noticing that Zoe was already huffing and puffing. “Slow and steady!”

Zoe could feel the burn building in her legs as she followed the pack into the woods. The 5K followed a winding dirt road through the park, and Zoe felt as though hope was being extinguished as the treetops blotted out the sun. She was no distance runner, and in truth, she only agreed to run in the race to impress Jim. Coming in dead last – she couldn’t imagine anything more humiliating.

Her wobbly thighs painfully chafed against each other as she ran, and her soft breasts sloshed back and forth uncomfortably. She couldn’t seem to stop her arms from flailing a little as she ran. Worse, she could hear the footsteps of her competitors growing fainter and fainter ahead of her. The other girls were leaving her in the dust.

By the time the time she had finished the first lap, Zoe’s face and chest were drenched in sweat, and her hair was a tangled mess. Jim called out for her to stop if she needed to, but she just shook her head. She knew she could soldier on. Jim slinked back to his seat, next to his scowling father.

When the girls swung by again, Zoe had nearly caught up to them. Jim noticed that her formerly messy hair seemed more put together, as if she had stopped to fix it. But that was impossible – how could she have stopped and also made up all that lost time?

The third lap resulted in Zoe being in the middle of the pack. Her form seemed far more disciplined, and the sweat lines had faded from her clothes. It was as if she was running the race backwards, he thought – she was looking better and better while the competition was becoming more haggard.

The final lap featured Zoe dueling for the lead with another girl, a tall, toothpick-shaped redhead whose red locks fluttered behind her like a rocket blazing. Zoe’s hair was dishwater blonde hair looked like sparks, as she burst ahead in the final few moments. 

Was it Jim’s imagination, or did she look more slender than when the race started? Maybe she had sweated water weight…

“Wow! What a comeback!” Jim shouted, as she crossed the finish line in first place.

“Comeback?” Rod said in disbelief. “She was winning the whole time.”

“What?” Jim asked, but cheering crowd drowned them out as the other girls began to finish behind Zoe.

“Which charity are you going to support with your prize?” the race’s organizer asked Zoe, speaking through a megaphone to cut through the noise.

“Muscular Dystrophy Association!” Zoe shouted back in reply. 

~

Jim glanced at his watch and nervously drummed his fingers on the table. She was fashionably late, he thought. He had invited her out to eat to celebrate, and he had never seen her more excited – not even upon winning the race.

While he waited, he cast his eyes towards the bar on the other side of the restaurant. There were certainly a lot of lovely ladies out tonight, he thought as he gazed lustily at the scantily clad women perched on the edges of their stools.

One in particular was bewitching. He could only see her from the back, but her short, platinum blonde hair was impeccably spiked, and her backless dress exhibited some delicate muscle tone. 

She was leaning in intently, talking to the bartender about something. Though Jim strained, he couldn’t hear what it was. If only she could turn around and he could get a better look at her, he lamented.

A waiter passed through his field of view, and to his surprise, Jim found the woman from the bar walking directly towards him and slinking into his seat!

“Sorry I’m late,” she said. “The bartender was my high school basketball coach’s sister. I had to say hi.”

“Zoe?” Jim asked, finally getting a good look at her face. He barely recognized her, with all the makeup she was wearing.

“Yeah?” she asked. “Jim, you ok?”

“I’m fine,” Jim said, eyeing her up and down. The waves of reality were crashing into the shore of his delusion. There was no way he could have caused this much change, no matter what kind of trainer he was. “Did you dye your hair?”

“Good guess,” she said. “It’s the eyebrows, huh? I should get them done, too.”

“Have you lost weight?” he asked.

“Maybe a few pounds,” Zoe said. In truth, it was nearly a hundred. Did she not know, Jim wondered, or was she lying? Thinking back to something his father had said earlier, Jim decided to try a different approach.

“That race, what a comeback, eh?” he asked.

“What? Why?” she asked, fluttering her eyes a little. “I was winning the whole time, in case you didn’t notice.”

“What will we be having?” asked the waiter as he came by, interrupting Jim’s train of thought.

“I’ll have the lobster newburg, the lady will have the same,” Jim said, staring into Zoe’s eyes. He didn’t understand what was happening, but he didn’t need to. He reached his hand out and grasped hers, stroking it affectionately. The ring on her finger had changed shape, the encrusted pouty lips melting into a smooth silver band.

She’d picked that ring out of the lost and found, he remembered. What was it he said to his father, when she was going through it? That he wanted the perfect pupil, a protégé, rather than someone who’d give up on trying. She really was perfect, he thought, in more ways than one. They gazed into each others eyes, and the rest of the world melted away.

Chapter Four

Jim and Zoe scarfed down their dinners, and skipped dessert. Neither one could get out of the restaurant fast enough, as their appetites lay elsewhere. 

Jim paid for dinner, and then rose to his feet, extending the crook of his arm to Zoe. He led the way back to his place – it wasn’t too far away – and started to remove his clothes as soon as they were both inside.

“I’ve wanted you since the moment I set eyes on you,” Zoe said breathlessly.

“My thoughts exactly,” Jim said, feeling a pang of guilt about the lie. Personal trainers, he reminded himself, do have to lie all the time in order to keep clients happy.

Zoe ran her fingers up and down his muscular chest, and he scooped her up in his arms, carrying her towards the bed. She gasped a little as Jim tossed her towards the pillows, though she had a soft landing. Before she could respond, he jumped in after her, pinning her arms down as she pulled off her backless dress.

“Are you always this rough on the ladies?” Zoe asked, trying to squirm out of his grasp. She enjoyed giving the struggle all of her effort, even if it was futile.

“I haven’t had complaints before,” Jim said. “I’m not hurting you, am I?”

“Just my pride,” she said. Even using both arms, she still wasn’t able to move one of his. “I thought I was making so much progress,” she complained, trying to gain the upper hand in their boudoir tussle.

“Don’t make being stronger than me your yardstick,” Jim said. of course, to Zoe, it already ways. “I work out for hours before the gym even opens. You’re never going to beat me,” he said. 

He’d bragged about his workout regimen while bedding women before, but it never felt as appropriate as it did now. “Plus,” he said, pinning her hips with his legs, “men are stronger than women, you know.”

“I know,” Zoe lamented, as Jim ran his hands over toned and slender frame. She despised feeling pinned, but found herself becoming aroused as she imagined how much fun Jim must be having. How nice, she thought, to have someone like me to pin down so easily.

As Zoe felt Jim’s hand enter her underwear, she felt a surge of fear and excitement. She’d never even kissed the man, and they were seconds away from copulating. Still, she couldn’t deny she’d touched herself in the shower this morning to this very thought.

Jim entered her roughly, and she squealed with pain. Mercifully, he slowed his pace, and before long, Zoe started moaning with passion. Jim was in heaven himself, partly due to her beautiful physique. 

Whether the changes in her were due to his wishing or his prowess as a trainer didn’t matter: he knew that he was responsible for her new beauty, and that excited him like nothing else.

They both came quickly, and slept overtook them even faster.

~

“Morning, sleepyhead,” Zoe cooed.

“Is that the time?” Jim said, glancing down at Zoe’s wrist, barely registering that her watch had transformed from a wooden art piece into a digital sports watch. “I’ve got to go, I’ve got a client waiting.”

“Cancel,” Zoe said, gripping his arm tightly. “Stay here in bed with me.”

“There’s nothing I’d love more, but you’re not the only girl I training,” Jim said, trying to shake her hand free.

“I should be,” Zoe said, her grip tightening. “Just you and me from now on.”

“Ouch,” Jim said, finally succeeding in batting her hand away. He could still see the red indentation marks on his forearm where her fingers were. “How to I make an income if I’m training you full time?” Jim asked. “For that matter, how do you?”

“My, my, aren’t you Mr. Careful this morning,” Zoe teased. “You weren’t so practical last night. I’m sure someone warned you about sleeping with clients.”

“It’s not something I make a habit of,” Jim said.

“Really,” Zoe said. “Your Dad is the owner, right? Does he know about your little...how did you put it…habit?”

“Fine, fine, you got me,” Jim said. “I’ll train you full time, satisfied?”

“Not until I’m the best student you’ve ever had,” Zoe said, partly under her breath.

“What do you even want to train in? Running?” Jim asked. He remembered asking her what her goals were back when they first met – she had said she didn’t know. Somehow, he doubted she’d give a similar answer today.

“No, too simple,” Zoe said. She thought back to when she had been struggling with his arm a few moments ago. She wanted to win that struggle so bad, she could scarcely draw breath when thinking about it. “Can I be a professional arm wrestler?”

“Arm wrestler?” Jim repeated, with a smirk. “I don’t think so.”

“What sport uses your arms?” Zoe asked.

“Lots of sports and workouts use arms. Basketball, softball, gymnastics…if you were a guy, I’d throw in boxing and MMA.”

“I’ll think about it,” Zoe said. “In the meantime, I’d like a hero’s breakfast.”

“And what would my hero like that to consist of?” Jim asked.

“Erm, you know…a breakfast of champions,” Zoe said triumphantly.

“You have no idea what you want, do you?” Jim asked.

“I want you,” Zoe said, and leaned in for a kiss.

Chapter Five

“You did what!?” Rod barked, as Jim bowed his head. “What kind of income do you think you can get managing one person? Do you have any idea what I had to deal with talking to the other clients who you’ve bailed on?”

“Sorry, Dad, but I just have a good feeling about this one,” Jim said. “I think she’s an ideal student.”

“That’s a lot of hogwash if you ask me. You just want to get in her pants, I’d say. This pretty thing wins a few races, and she can talk you into anything…”

“Wait, a few races?” Jim asked.

“Now are you going to tell me 3 races are more than a few?” Rod asked. “I give you 24 hours to have her make something of herself.”

“Three races,” Jim repeated, as he sulked out of his father’s office. “Three…” 

Last night, in the heat of the moment, he was willing to look the other way on how things had changed. A minor detail here or there was ok. But now his father was remembering an entire different past. It boggled his mind.

When Jim left his father’s office, he saw Zoe and another girl tussling on one of the floor mats. A semi-circle of other gym patrons were watching, and cheering.

“Woah, woah, break it up!” Jim said, trying to separate them. “What the heck’s going on?”

“I’m training,” Zoe said. “You said I could do MMA.”

“That’s…not what I said at all,” Jim said. “Alright everyone, show’s over for today. Zoe, let’s chat, ok?” He took Zoe by the hand, and led her to the back room where they’d had their first training session.

“Sorry, Jim. But I was asking around, and there is a women’s MMA fight tonight, so I figured…”

“You figured what?” Jim asked. “You could just step into the ring, with a few hours of training? Do you have any idea how dangerous that could be for you?”

“You want to protect me,” Zoe said, stroking Jim’s cheek. “That’s so sweet.”

Jim flinched a little at the remark. He knew it was intended as a compliment, but somehow he found it condescending and even emasculating.

“You look stressed,” Zoe said. “Let me give you a back rub.”

“…Alright,” Jim said, sitting down on the bench. Zoe walked behind him, her hands kneading his broad back with surprising agility. 

“That feels nice,” Jim said. “I’m sorry if I came down hard on you. My Dad’s pretty pissed that you’re my only client now. He says he wants you to justify all the time I’m spending on you.”

“Well, then tonight’s fight is perfect. I’ll win, and some of the prize money will go to you and the gym,” Zoe said. “Will that satisfy him?”

“Probably,” Jim said. “But still…why MMA? I said I’d suggest that to you if you were a guy. It’s not very….”

“Very feminine?” Zoe asked defiantly. Jim nodded. “Let’s arm wrestle to see who’s more feminine!” she shouted.

“That doesn’t…” Jim began. “The winner would be proving they are less feminine, since upper body strength…”

“Chicken?” Zoe asked, making flapping gestures with her arms.

“I am not a chicken,” Jim said. Even though he knew she was just ruffling his feathers, his eggshell thin ego still was bothered by the jest.

“Then let’s go,” Zoe insisted, placing her arm on the bench.

“Alright,” Jim said. He noticed her arm was significantly thicker and more sinewy than he had remembered it this morning – though, still, it didn’t rival his own bulging bicep. 

Initially, Jim had the edge. He almost succeeded at pinning Zoe, but she put up a valiant resistance. Jim actually felt a trickle of sweat go down the side of his forehead after 30 seconds of deadlock.

He looked into Zoe’s eyes. They were burning bright, as if this was everything. But he was a competitive man himself. There was no way he was going to let his girlfriend – if that’s what she was – win a match.

Groaning a little, he finally forced her arm to the side.

“I win,” he said, panting a little.

“Fuck!” Zoe spat, slamming her other arm down on the bench.

“Hey, don’t feel bad,” Jim said, a little surprised by the outburst. “You’re easily the strongest girl I’ve ever trained, if you can last that long against me.”

“Then I guess I’m not too delicate for MMA,” Zoe said, her eyes flashing again.

“I guess not,” Jim reluctantly agreed. “I’ll teach you everything I know.”

Chapter Six

The MMA club’s main event was a regular match, with the girl on girl action served as a sort of dessert to the spectators. Much to Zoe’s chagrin, she was told in advance to wear as skimpy a jumpsuit as possible, to kiss her opponent if the opportunity presented itself, and to pick a sexy fight name for herself.

“Screw that,” Zoe thought. “I want to be a serious athlete,” she decided, and registered under the name she deemed more appropriate.

Jim gave her a good luck kiss before she went backstage. While they were making out, Zoe gave him a firm slap on the ass. She enjoyed seeing his face go a little red in response.

Jim returned to his seat to watch the fight. He shifted in his chair uncomfortably, his butt still a little sore from Zoe’s overzealous spank. Much of the raucous crowd was getting up to leave their seats as the announcer began; clearly the audience didn’t take the women’s match seriously.

“Our first catfight of the night,” began the announcer, “is between two newcomers. Sapphire the Sapphic Vixen and…Xena, the Princess Slayer,” he said, the skepticism with which he pronounced Zoe’s name palpable.

Sapphire was a lithe woman with bright blue hair and an even brighter blue bikini. By contrast, ‘Xena’ was wearing boxing shorts, a black sports bra, and had only two stripes of dark face paint as decoration.

Once the bell sounded, Sapphire slinked near the edge of the arena while Zoe immediately rushed forward. Sapphire spritely jumped to the side at the last moment, and Zoe crashed into the metal bars on the side of the ring.

“Ouch!” said the announcer. “This kitty doesn’t need to use her claws to scratch.”

Zoe audibly growled, and rose to her feet. She feigned another charge, causing Sapphire to leap again. This time, though, she was ready. Zoe swept her leg, causing her to fall and emit a high pitched, girly squeal. Zoe immediately pounced on top of her.

“Kiss me,” Sapphire whispered as they struggled. “It’s a real crowd pleaser.”

“Screw you,” Zoe spat.

“The box office will give both get a bonus if you do it,” Sapphire said.

“Fine,” Zoe said, remembering her promise to help financially justify Jim training her exclusively. With one swift motion, she smashed her elbow against Sapphire’s forehead, causing it to ricochet against the floor. She was out cold.

“One, two, three…” the judge began. “It’s a knockout! We have our first winner!” he said, raising up Zoe’s arm.

Zoe let go of the judge, and then picked up Sapphire’s unconscious body by the hair. Holding her up so the audience could see, she passionately kissed her. Whoops and cheers resulted, and Jim could see some of the people who were leaving returning to their seats.

“You want more Xena?” the announcer asked. “Let’s have her do another match!”

Another match? Jim thought. That wasn’t fair – whoever her opponent was wasn’t tired. Besides, she’d only agreed to do one fight, not two. Jim rose to his feet and tried to get Zoe’s attention, but she wasn’t looking his way.

“Give up for Fightin’ Felicia!” Wearing a cat suit, Zoe could tell Felicia was dressed up like her namesake from video game “Darkstalkers.”

Zoe charged forwards when the bell rang. Felicia tried to scramble away, but Zoe quickly cornered her. A few feigns to the head caused Felicia to raise her guard too high, exposing her midsection.

“Yes!” Jim said, “Just like I taught you,” he yelled, as Zoe’s fists collided with Felicia’s exposed belly. She doubled over, and Zoe held her down until the count of ten. Jim watched in awe at her body control. He kept having to remind himself this was the same girl who couldn’t catch a ball without falling over just a few days ago.

“Wow, two in a row!” said the announcer. “You want one more! I think we all want one more. Let’s have Xena go up against Bulging Belinda!”

In walked a towering woman, whose bulk and height made Zoe look tiny by comparison.

“She’s not in the same weight class!” Jim shouted to the judge as he charged the stage.

“Who gives a shit, the crowd loves it,” said the judge, and he rang the bell.

This time, Zoe wasn’t the one who charged. Belinda did, and she pummeled Zoe from below. Zoe yelped a little, but kept her guard up despite the flurry of downward punches.

Zoe finally ducked a punch, and Belinda’s big fist hit the padded bar of the ring. The recoil caused her to stagger a bit, and that was all the opening Zoe needed. She rose with an uppercut, smashing Belinda in her huge jaw. 

“Ladies and gentleman…our champion!” the announcer said, Belinda failed to get up. He held up Zoe’s hand.

Chapter Seven

Rod headed over to where Jim was seated.

“I told you! I told you, didn’t I?” his father asked.

“You told me what, Dad?” Jim asked.

“I told you it was good idea to train her full time. You should have done that the second she walked in the door!” Rod exclaimed, slapping his son firmly on the back. Jim knew his father hated to admit he was wrong, but this time, he suspected that he genuinely remembered a different past.

The fights mercifully over, Jim rushed to great Zoe backstage. Her body was glistening with sweat, and Jim swore she was more muscular than she had been in training today. Her thighs were rippling nearly out of her shorts, while her calves looked solid, like another pair of fists was lurking under the skin.

Her chest and back seemed broader, that was for sure, even though Jim knew that wasn’t possible from training. Though her chest seemed more muscular, her breasts were as big as ever, jutting out prominently and straining against the confines of her sports bra heroically. And…was she taller? As she stood next to Jim, she seemed only about an inch shorter than him. She was so short when they met, he remembered, that she seemed nearly as round as she was tall. Now she was an Amazon.

“Nice fights, congrats” Jim said weakly.

“Congratulations to both of us, I owe it all to you,” Zoe said. She walked behind Jim, held his shoulders with one arm, and then swiftly kicked out his legs from behind.

“Hey!” Jim shouted as he fell back, right into Zoe’s waiting arms. She leaned down and gave him a kiss. Initially he resisted, thinking she ought to use mouthwash after what happened with Sapphire. But her eagerness overwhelmed his reluctance, and soon her tongue had invaded his mouth.

“Zoe,” Jim said, a little breathless. “You’re being…”

“Xena,” she corrected him.

“That’s your stage name,” Jim said.

“I want to keep going by it, even when I’m not in the ring,” Zoe said. “It’ll help me stay in character.”

“I’m not going to call you Xena,” Jim protested, trying to squirm out of her arms.

“Everything has to be a struggle for you, doesn’t it? You know, it would be a lot easier, and a lot more fun, if you just gave in,” Zoe said, her eyes sparkling.

Jim grimaced as he finally pulled free. He didn’t like the sound of that. He was the trainer. He was the man. He shouldn’t have to take orders, he thought.

“No,” he said firmly. He had to put his foot down somewhere.

“OK, let’s arm wrestle for it,” Zoe offered.

Jim looked at Zoe’s arm with a mixture of awe and dread. Earlier that morning, he had just barely managed to hold her off. Now she was tired from the fights, sure, but she was stronger looking. The arm glistened with sweat, and ropey muscles seemed layered on top of one another.

“Come on,” Zoe said, sitting down at a folding table. “Do it now, or I’m Xena forever.”

“Alright,” Jim said, feeling obligated to defend his pride. As soon as his hand joined hers, Zoe started pushing and he was nearly pinned.

“Keep calm,” Jim told himself. “She may have the upper hand, but you’re fighting for your manhood.” 

“Xena, Xena, Xena” she chanted. Jim tried his best to resist, but it was to no avail. He stared intently at Zoe’s hand as she tightly gripped him. He could actually see the ring changing the closer her arm got to pinning him. The metallic, rope-like cords seem to grow wider and broader, consuming more and more of the side of the ring. The growth mirrored what was happening to her arm, where her bicep seemed to swell bigger and bigger the longer the match wore on. Jim could see her tricep bulging underneath her arm, and could even feel her grip getting stronger.

Jim’s knuckles painfully slammed into the side of the table as his strength finally gave out. He could see the ring become a criss-cross of cords, as if the metal was tying itself in knots to celebrate Zoe’s ultimate triumph.

“Yes!” Xena cheered. “The student becomes the master.”

Jim buried his head in his hands. 

“I think I’ll fight with the boys next time. Should make it interesting. I mean, if I could take you, I should have no trouble, right?” Xena said.

“Sure,” Jim said. “No trouble,” he repeated, a pained expression on his face.

“I’m just teasing you,” Xena said. “You’re so sensitive. Like a princess.”

“I’m going home,” Jim said, suddenly rising to his feet. 

“Good thinking, all that fighting has really made me horny,” Xena said as she licked her lips.

“I’m serious, Zoe, I’m not in the mood,” Jim insisted. “And I’m not going to call you Xena,” he insisted. “I don’t care if you call me a welcher, it’s never going to happen.”

“Alright, alright,” Xena said. “Listen, I’m sorry - let me give you a hug,” she said. Xena interlocked her hands firmly behind Jim, just under his ribcage. Then, she swiveled back on her hips, using her leverage to raise him a couple of inches off of the ground.

“Hey!” Jim said, grabbing her shoulders to try to force her to put him back down. It did no good. Xena only squeezed tighter, bringing his groin in contact with hers. Though Jim said he wasn’t in the mood for sex, he could feel his body betraying him as the friction made him grow hard.

With each exhale, she tightened her grip a little, preventing his lungs from reclaiming the air.

“What’s my name?” Xena asked. Jim tried to say Xena, but he just let out a little chortle instead. He kicked his legs, but at his angle, they barely reached her. Feeling helpless, his body went limp, and she gingerly set him down.

“We friends again?” Xena asked. “Ready for action now?”

“No, you know what, Xena? I...I want to be alone for tonight, okay?” Jim said, and stormed out.

Chapter Eight

Though she’d only stayed over once, Jim found his bed felt awfully empty without Xena in it. He tossed and turned, unable to sleep as he wrestled with feelings of guilt, confusion, and shame. 

Resigning himself to insomnia, Jim decided to check his phone. He had a few emails from his former clients, wondering why he dropped them. Jim was beginning to wonder about that himself. If only, he thought, he knew what had happened to Zoe, and why.

After seeing the ring change before his eyes, he suspected it might be involved. He tried searching for information about magical rings online, but all he could find were fantastic tales of superstitions and old legends. 

Until, that is, he found a strange description of an ancient relic. “A ring that changes with the wearer, it alters reality to make whoever receives it perfect for the giver.” 

Was Xena his perfect girlfriend? That was debatable. She was gorgeous, there was no doubt about that. She was fit, but he felt a little uncomfortable with how far that was starting to get. But of course initially, he hadn’t even been attracted to her. In fact, he remembered, he had told his father he’d prefer it if she was an ideal student, a protégé. That, she certainly was, now that she’d changed.

~

Jim woke up hugging his pillow. He threw it against the wall when he saw what he was doing, feeling ashamed. He yawned a little as he pulled himself out of bed. At least, he thought, he’d be able to enjoy his morning workout without having to deal with Xena. 

When he arrived at the gym a few minutes before opening, he headed straight for his favorite machine, the butterfly press. Xena, however, had beat him to the punch.

“Looks like someone decided to finally wake up,” Xena said as she pressed her arms inwards. The motion pressed her large breasts together, but just as the cleavage created was about to reach obscene levels, the butterfly bars blocked a clear view of her chest.

“How did you get into the building?” Jima asked, as he walked behind the machine. As he suspected, Xena had set the weight limit one setting above what he was used to.

“Your father gave me a key,” Xena replied. 

“My father did that?” Jim asked.

“He’s in his office, ask him yourself,” Xena said. “Hey, can you increase the weight setting on this thing while you’re back there?” she asked. “I’m not really ‘feeling the burn’ on this one.”

Jim pretended he didn’t hear that, and then stormed towards his father’s office.

“How could you give her a key?” Jim demanded angrily.

“Xena?” Rod asked. “I thought you liked her.”

“I...I do like her,” Jim said, defensively. “I just though, you know, this is a family gym...”

“What, and she’s not family?” Rod asked. “Well, I’m sure she will be soon enough, am I right?” 

Jim just glared at his father in response.

“What’s wrong, Jim? Afraid she’s gonna outshine you?” 

“No,” he said. Technically, he told himself, it wasn’t a lie. He wasn’t afraid she was going to outshine him, he was afraid she already had.

“Can’t handle a strong woman, is that it? Don’t think you can man up after seeing her in the ring last night?” Rod asked, chuckling a little.

“Well, you saw her.” 

“Yeah, she’s great for business!” Rod said. “Do whatever it takes to keep her happy, Jim.”

Jim left the office to find Xena still at it. Unwilling to work out next to her and expose his relative weakness, he decided to catch up on some database management.

Almost as soon as he turned on the main computer at the front desk, the screen turned bright blue, displaying an error message rife with letters and numbers Jim didn’t understand.

“Zo...er, Xena,” Jim called out. “Come over here a minute, please.”

“Sure,” she said, and walked over. Was she wearing high heels, Jim wondered? He had to look up to see her face. He glanced down - nope, regular shoes. So she was taller than him now, too, he realized.

“The computer isn’t working. What do I do here?” Jim asked.

“Beats me, I’m not the computer expert,” Xena said, shrugging her massive shoulders. 

“But...” Jim began, then realized it would be fruitless to try to explain. “Never mind, I’ll try to do it myself” he said, pulling out his cell phone to try to look up a solution to the problem.

“Looks like you’ve got a potential customer,” Xena said, pointing towards the door. A short, skinny little man was waiting outside. “You want me to try to give ‘em the sales pitch for a gym membership while you work on the computer?”

“No,” Jim said, bristling at the possible role reversal from their first day. “I’m on the payroll, I’ll do it,” he insisted, and ran towards the door.

Xena let out a sigh. Why was Jim suddenly so agitated? They were so close so recently. What had changed, and why? Maybe his father would know, she thought, and headed for his office.

“What’s up with Jim today?” she asked.

“Oh, his fragile ego is taking a beating,” Rod explained. “He’s used to being the strongest one here, I guess you showed him up a bit,” he added.

“I...never thought about it like that,” said Xena. “Thanks,” she said, and left. She had to bow her head a little to avoid colliding with the top of the door.

When she got back, she saw Jim giving a tour to the young man who she spotted outside the door. On the desk sat Jim’s phone. 

“I’m sure he won’t mind,” Xena said to herself, hoping her snooping might help shed light on Jim’s psyche. Fortunately, it hadn’t password-locked itself yet. The first page that popped up wasn’t tech support, but rather a web site about ancient artifacts.

“A ring that changes with the wearer, it alters reality to make whoever receives it perfect for the giver,” she read. “Location...unknown, tends to turn up where needed.” 

“Where needed,” she repeated, and looked down at the ring on her finger. Hadn’t that ring just turned up in a lost and found box, right when they met? Perhaps this ring was the answer. It might cure Jim of his ego, of his fear of being emasculated by her strength. A singular purpose in her mind, Xena started running towards Jim.

“You know, I think I’ll have to take a pass on that membership,” said the short man, as he headed back for the door. As he turned, his head smashed right into Xena’s prominent bust. “Erm, sorry,” he said, extracting himself as delicately as he could from her cleavage.

“Hey watch where you’re going, wimp!” Xena shouted, balling her hands up into fists. The man cowered for a moment, and then playfully slapped him on the back a little too hard. “No worries, little man, just having some fun.”

“Wait a minute,” he said as he rubbed his bruised shoulder. “I know you, I saw you fight last night. You go here?”

“I’m here every day,” Xena said.

“Well, sign me up!” he said. Xena flashed a thumbs up sign to Jim, hoping he’d be happy to get the sale. Instead, he looked like a bully had just kicked over his sandcastle.

“Jim...” she began.

“What?” he said. He looked so hyper and agitated she swore he’d explode at any minute. Perhaps now wasn’t the best time to give him the ring.

“Do you want to get out of here?” she asked. “You know, take a walk in the park?”

“Sure,” Jim said. At least out there, he thought, he could get away from being humiliated for a while.

Chapter Nine

Xena and Jim elbowed their way into the crowded subway car. It was so packed that they could barely turn around without hitting someone. 

“Out of my way,” Xena barked, when a man accidentally bumped her. 

Standing still didn’t sit well with Xena, and before long she felt a longing to work out again. She placed both hands on the bar above the hand rails, and attempted a pull up.

She succeeded - both in the pull up and in getting the attention of those around her - but it was too easy. She switched to pulling herself up with just one hand. This time, however, the metal bar buckled under the strain, and went crashing down.

“Sorry, everyone,” Jim found himself saying. Nobody had been hurt, fortunately, and they scurried out on the next stop.

“We’re still aways from the park. Do you want to grab another subway, or take a cab?” Jim asked.

“Hell no, let’s just walk it,” Xena said, and took off at breakneck speed down the street. Jim took off after her, initially matching her stride. As the blocks blurred past, though, Jim could feel his legs growing stiffer with exhaustion, while Xena’s legs seemed to be growing stronger. Her calves began to swell until they reached the size of grapefruits, while her muscular thighs thickened into massive tree trunks of muscle.

The last mile, Xena was so far ahead, he couldn’t even see her anymore.

By the time he reached the park, Xena was sitting on a bench, waiting for him.

“I know what you’re going to say - what took you so long, slowpoke, right?” Jim asked.

“No,” Xena protested. 

“Some kind of joke about running like a girl, then?” Jim said, feeling frustrated. He had agreed to leave the gym hoping he’d be less likely to be shown up, but Xena seemed to find some new way of one upping him everywhere.

“No, Jim,” she said, taking him by the hand. “Actually, it’s your attitude that I wanted to discuss,” she said. “Come with me.”

“Where are we going?” Jim asked.

“When I did the 5K, I spotted a tree that looked just perfect for a couple to sit in,” Xena said. 

Jim laughed a little when he saw the tree. There was indeed a strong looking pair of branches, but they towered over him, far too high to climb.

Xena scaled up the tree with ease, and Jim could see her muscles flex as she did. Her back strained against the spandex, rippling with strength as she expertly propelled herself up. Her muscular ass, perched on top of her huge thighs, seemed to stand out as well - like the dot on the human exclamation point her body had become.

Jim followed, but his footwork was shaky. When he was nearly at the branch, he felt himself slipping. Just as he felt himself losing his grip and falling, his descent was arrested by Xena reaching out and grabbing him by the arm.

“I’ve got you,” she said, and swung him up to the branch alongside her.

“You didn’t have to do that,” he grumbled, refusing to meet her gaze. Had pulling him up only encouraged her muscles to grow even more? Her shoulder seemed just a little meatier than it had a few moments before. It was as if every mistake he made was being punished by furthering the already wide gap between them.

“Why do you feel so threatened by me?” Xena asked, causing him to jump a little as his train of thought was disrupted. 

“I’m not threatened,” Jim said, puffing out his chest and trying to look tough. It was a foolish gesture. Even without her massive bust, Xena’s chest was now wider than Jim’s. And she was now so tall that Jim, himself six feet, had to crane his neck up to look her in the eye.

“Come on,” she insisted. “Spill.”

“Don’t tall women prefer to date even taller men? Don’t strong women prefer stronger men?” Jim asked.

“That’s a load of bullshit if you ask me. Why should a strong woman need a stronger man? Why does a man need a woman to be weaker?”

“Well...” Jim began. “Biology, psychology, culture, I don’t know what causes it. But isn’t that just how things are?” 

Xena’s only reply was to furrow her brow. 

“It’s just...the way of things. And I just think...I mean, you’re great, Xena, but...”

“But you think we’ve got the wrong balance, is that it?” Xena asked, and Jim nodded. “And there’s nothing I can say that might change your mind?”

“I’m a stubborn man,” Jim said. “I don’t change easy.”

“You know, we’d be perfect for each other if you didn’t let me being strong get in the way of things,” Xena said. “I want you to have this,” she said, handing him the ring.

“But...why?” Jim asked. Accepting jewelry from her - could things get any more emasculating?

“Just put it on,” Xena insisted, and shoved it onto his finger. As soon as she did so, a thought crossed his mind. If Xena was no longer wearing the ring, maybe she’d stop changing. Maybe she’d even start to change back!

“Alright,” he agreed, admiring it on his hand. Another thought hit him - what if he began to change, now that he was wearing the ring? He resolved to take it off the moment he noticed anything out of the ordinary.

“Let’s head back,” Xena said. “I had an idea I wanted to run by your Dad about teaching a self defense class.”

“Sure,” Jim agreed. Xena scaled the tree first, and then Jim began to follow. He felt more hesitant about climbing the tree than ever.

“Just jump down,” Xena offered.

“What? That’s way too far,” Jim protested.

“I’ll catch you.” Xena said. 

“Alright,” Jim agreed reluctantly, after looking at the long climb down. He fell, landing right into Xena’s arms. They didn’t exactly provide a soft landing, but her chest cushioned his head.

“Thanks,” Jim said, after Xena set him down. She playfully tousled his hair and smiled. 

Chapter Ten

Xena decided it would be best to take a cab back to the gym, just in case people who saw her bust the subway handrail were looking for her. Jim immediately surprised her by resting his head on her broad shoulder affectionately after he sat down next to her.

“I’m sorry if I was grumpy today,” Jim said. “It’s been a crazy few days.”

“Hey, don’t worry about it,” Xena said. She could tell - the ring was working already.

~

“Your Dad loved my self-defense class idea!” Xena said. “He says he wants the first class to be tonight. Open it up for free, get people interested.”

“Great,” Jim said. “I’m happy for you.”

“Want to help me teach it?” Xena asked. “After all, you are my teacher...”

“Well, that’s a bit of an overstatement at this point,” Jim admitted. “I think you’re the expert.”

“Don’t be so humble, we’ll be great together,” Xena said. Besides, she thought to herself, Jim would always be her teacher, no matter what happened to him.

A few hours, the class was assembled.

“Today, we’re going to learn about dodging,” Xena began. “An infinitely more valuable skill than blocking, avoiding an opponent’s attack allows one to be in a better position to counter attack. Use of the knees is key, because bending the back to duck can actually bring the face closer to the attacker. Jim and I will demonstrate,” she said. 

Jim loosed a few slow punches in Xena’s direction, and she expertly avoided them all. “More!” she shouted. “Faster!” Jim beat up the air, but couldn’t lay a finger on her.

“Now, you try,” she said, and without further warning, she threw a haymaker right at his jaw. Jim tried to duck, but didn’t quite manage to go low enough, and her head connected with the top of his fist. His body flew backwards, landing on the mat in a crumpled heap.

“Oops,” Xena said, looking a little embarrassed. She gingerly helped Jim up to his feet. “You okay?” she asked him.

“In conclusion,” he said, “the advantages of dodging should be self evident.” 

Xena and the class giggled a little. “Glad you have a sense of humor about it.”

~

Jim’s fall only made interest in her class grow, and by the time she was finished, everyone in the gym was staring at her in rapt attention. When the class was over, Xena strutted confidently into the locker room. 

“You girls like the class?” Xena asked two skinny girls, smacking them on their asses. 

“Ouch,” one girl said, rubbing her sore butt. The other just blushed furiously, staring down at her feet. 

Xena slipped off her tight fitting leotard and headed for the shower. The women who saw her coming practically dove out of her way. As she soaped up her massive, muscular frame, she knew all eyes in the room were on her, just as they had been in the class. 

And she loved it. A goddess in the ring, in the gym, or in the shower, she thought. Adoration, envy, lust, it didn’t matter to her why the eyes were there. She vigorously massaged her scalp with shampoo, and then violently shook her head back and forth under the stream of water, causing little sudsy drops to fly everywhere, striking the other women showering on the face and their nude bodies. 

~

“Ready to go, Jim?” Xena asked, once she was back.

“In a sec,” Jim said. He was stacking equipment and returning free weights to their locations in preparation for closing. Xena could tell he was really straining as he lifted each black disk and silver barbell, something she’d never seem him to do before. 

“Want to go back to my place?” she offered, raising her eyebrow suggestively.

“I thought you lived with your parents.”

“My parents? Hell, no. What gave you that idea?” Xena asked, letting out a little laugh. “I’ve got a place we can walk to.”

“Is it a long walk?” Jim asked. “My legs are really killing me from our sprint to the park earlier.”

“I think you can manage it,” she said. 

Jim tried to put his hand around her shoulder as they walked together, but not only was he too short, his arm couldn’t reach all the way around her broad back. He tried straining his arm and even walking sideways, but nothing helped. Eventually, Xena grabbed him and tucked Jim under her arm. 

He squirmed a little bit, but couldn’t push her off. He stopped struggling their palms met. He had ample proof that her fists were furious, but the inside of her hands still felt soft. He gripped her hand tightly, and could feel his pulse increasing as her index finger drew little circles on the inside of his delicate wrist.

Xena couldn’t get home fast enough. Seeing just how easy it was to hold him with just one arm was arousing enough, but seeing him struggle and fail to break free was almost too much. She would have run to her front door if it wasn’t for the fact that she knew he couldn’t keep up with her.

Finally, they arrived. As soon Jim was shutting the door behind her, she turned around and leaned in to kiss him. The door hadn’t quite shut, and her weight nearly caused them to tumble back out onto the street. 

“You have no idea how horny I was today,” Xena whispered onto the back of his neck as she pulled the door shut in front of him. “You’re just so...adorable.”

“Er...thanks,” Jim replied. It wasn’t the compliment he would have chosen, but he wasn’t turning it down.

Slowly, the couple began their meandering dance towards the bedroom. Every few feet, Xena would grab Jim by the wrists and press him against the wall, invading his mouth with a passionate kiss. 

Right before they reached the bedroom door, Xena and Jim crashed into a display case, which wobbled and tipped over. She dived to the floor to save it from smashing.

“You okay?” Jim asked.

“Well, it’s my school sports trophy case, so...pretty heavy,” she said. Jim leaned over and tried to help lift it, but he couldn’t manage. Finally, Xena managed to push herself up. She nearly tore the bedroom door off of its hinges as she charged forward. 

Xena threw Jim on the bed, and then pounced on top of him. He tried to wriggle out of her grasp, but it was easy enough to contain him. She kissed him passionately, this time biting down on his lower lip, with nearly enough force to draw blood. He squealed with pleasure, and Xena began to pull down his pants.

Jim continued to struggle, but his attempts to flail his limbs free grew easier and easier to contain. In fact, as Xena gripped his biceps with her hands and pushed them down, she could feel his muscles getting smaller with each gyration. The sensation left her feeling increasingly wet. 

She dug her fingers into his muscles, squeezing them with all her might, and she could feel them receding beneath her grasp. Now she was sopping, and she pulled down her pants, then his. She lowered herself onto him slowly, squeezing him tighter and tighter as he slid further and further in.

Jim’s arms burned, but his view - Xena’s huge breasts, bouncing right into his face with every thrust - was enough to distract him from anything. Eventually, he gave up his struggle, accepting what was happening passively.

“No!” Xena said. “Keep squirming, I love it!” she commanded as she felt him going limp. He resumed his futile struggle, and Xena started gasping with pleasure.

She was straddling his stomach with her powerful legs as she rocked band and forth. She decided to squeeze there too, hoping she could start melting his once rock-hard abs. From her angle, she couldn’t see the results, but she imagined they were amazing.

Xena could feel each breath from Jim on her breasts, and could sense he was about to climax when his breathing sped up. Eager to give him more pleasure, she pressed her breasts against his face as hard as she could, figuring a few moments without air would only heighten the pleasure. 

Jim’s used his suddenly free arms to repeatedly tap Xena’s shoulder as he grew desperate for air. His orgasm hit so hard he could actually feel tears running down his cheeks.

When she removed her chest from his face, he burst into a violent fit of coughing. “Jeez, Xena, you almost killed me.”

“Yeah, but what a way to go, right?” she countered.

He didn’t want to admit it, but just hearing those words made him start to get hard again.

Chapter Eleven

Jim stretched and yawned as he pulled himself out of bed. Xena was already up.

“Are you getting ready for our morning workout?” he called out to her.

“Nah, let’s skip it today,” she said from the other room.

“Skip...working out?” Jim asked. That didn’t sound like the Xena he knew. “Why?”

“I just want to eat with you and cuddle. What’s the matter, didn’t I tire you out enough last night?” she asked. Of course, the real reason she wanted to skip working out was so that Jim wouldn’t rebuild any of the muscle mass he was shedding. She hadn’t expected the ring to fix their problem in this particular way, but she was loving it.

“Haha, alright,” Jim agreed. “Making breakfast? Let me help you in the kitchen,” he offered.

“Open up some preserves, and put some toast in,” said Xena, who was cooking up an omelet so massive it must have contained the entire carton of eggs. She was wearing nothing but an apron, which was clearly designed for a much shorter and smaller woman, and exposed every inviting curve and every hardened line of sinewy muscle. Her powerful hamstrings protruded from the back of her upper legs, and her teardrop shaped quads thickly stood out on the other side. 


Jim put the toast in, but the boysenberry jam jar refused to open. He tried banging it against the side of the counter, but it still refused to budge. He even tried running it under hot water - no luck. He strained and grunted, but the stubbornly jar remained closed. 

“Let me try,” Xena offered. Using just the pinky finger of her of her left hand, she pulled the lid off easily. The popping sound produced a sense of sexual satisfaction so strong she shivered.  

“Wow that felt good,” she said, “You’re so weak!” she couldn’t help but add.

“Hey, I got it started for you,” Jim said defensively. Xena smirked as she gazed down at him. His hair was different, with his bleach blonde crew replaced by natural looking, brown curls. Was he getting shorter, she wondered? He certainly looked smaller than yesterday. She bent down and hugged him tightly, and swore she could feel his shoulders actually narrow a little as she squeezed.

She affectionately stroked the underside of his chin with her pinky, the same finger which had shown him up. “Come on,” Xena said, “you know you like it.” 

Jim couldn’t deny his arousal at the situation. “Your eggs are overcooking,” he said. 

“Good call,” she said, and let him go to save the omelet. As Jim pulled the toast out, she noticed the ring appeared smaller, the tangled vines more slender on his finger.

~

When breakfast was over, they walked towards the gym together. This time, he didn’t try to break free when Xena draped her arm over him. He put in some ear buds with his free hand.

“What metal band is that?” Xena asked.

“Metal?” Jim replied with a frown. “This is classic jazz. Why would I listen to metal?”

“Computers still down?” Xena asked Rod, once they had arrived.

“Yep. Been fooling around with them all morning, but they won’t start. I’m this close to calling a repair guy, but they always overcharge...”

“Let me take another crack at it,” said Jim as she leaned under the desk. “The power cord wasn’t all the way in,” he said, and the machine lit up. 

“Huh, this is funny,” he said, pulling the membership records. “It says here your legal name is Xena.”

“That is my legal name,” Xena replied. 

“But...” Jim began. “Ah, nevermind,” he said with a shrug. So transferring the ring from her to him hadn’t caused her to change back, he thought. Still, he was grateful that he hadn’t experienced any changes himself. Was he already perfect for Xena, he wondered, or had the ring just needed to recharge after the number it did on her? 

The ring was on Xena’s mind as well. How far could she push him, she wondered? “My next fight is tonight, Jim,” she said. “I’m going in the men’s division this time. Want to come?”

“Sounds fun,” he said. “I’d love to cheer you on.”

“You’ll be my coach, my manager, and my cheerleader all in one, then,” she said, pinching his butt as she last the last one. Jim’s face went red, but he didn’t complain.

~

“She’s stronger than any other woman...or any man, for that matter....she’s Xena!” said the announcer. The crowd burst into cheers. 

“Let’s see if Gargantuan Greg can stop her reign of terror!”

Greg would have appeared gargantuan before most opponents, but he stood slightly shorter than Xena. He came out swinging, but after a flurry of dodging so fast it looked like a blur, Xena emerged unscathed. Greg stomped the ground and roared with frustration, but his dramatic gesture was interrupted by Xena’s fist flying into his jaw, knocking him down. 

He tried to get back up, but Xena jumped on his back, continuing to smash her fists into his face until the struggle ceased.  Then she rose and stood next to him triumphantly, her foot resting on his face as the judge began counting him out. 

Xena decided to do some poses, once she knew her opponent wouldn’t rising for a long time. She flexed her mighty biceps, and their rounded peaks swelled for the crowd. She tightened the muscles in her exposed abdomen, and her stomach rippled into a dozen little pockets of teeming strength.

Just watching it from the audience left Jim feeling so aroused that he hesitated to leave his chair right away after the match, fearing his erection might show through his tight fitting skinny jeans. 

Rod was the first one to greet her after the match. “Xena, you’re amazing!” he gushed. “You’re like the son I never had.” 

“What about Jim?” Xena asked.

“What about him?” Rod said with a laugh. “I mean, he’s no athlete. Honestly I don’t know what you see in him, he’s a lucky man.”

Xena closed her eyes, remembering the supportive man who cheered her on as she won her 5K, who gave up his lucrative personal trainer gigs to train her full time, who encouraged her to fight, and who brought her physical pleasure such as she’d never known before. A man who - though he didn’t seem to notice - was losing his own physical prowess, just for the sake of their relationship.

“No sir, I’m the lucky one,” she said. Hopefully someday soon, she thought, Rod might even be her father in law.

“Congratulations!” Jim screamed, as he emerged into the back room. He jumped towards her, throwing his arms around as much of her body as he could. “You looked were amazing, as usual.”

“You look good yourself,” Xena said, admiring his tight pants and silk Hawaiian shirt, clothes he knew he would have never worn they then first met. They highlighted the new slender beauty of his body. 

“Ready to do home?” Jim asked.

“Yes,” Xena said. “I certainly am.”

~

As soon as they were outside the back of the building, Xena punched the door.

“Fuck!” she spat. Jim thought he could see a few splinters fly from the crater her fist left. “I left my purse in the locker room,” she said. 

“No biggie, I’ll run in and grab it for you,” Jim offered.

“No, I’ll do it,” Xena said, knowing she could push her way through the crowded aisles faster that he could. “Stay here,” she added.

Jim whistled to himself for a moment while he waited. Then, he saw a group of several men wearing trench coats approaching. 

“What have we got here?” asked the tallest man in the group.

“I don’t want any trouble,” Jim said nervously, backing towards the door. He tried to turn the handle, but it only opened from the inside.

“Don’t worry, there won’t be any,” said the man. “Just, you know, hand over what you’ve got and we’ll be just fine.”

“Alright,” he agreed. He was about to reach into his pocket when the door swung open, knocking him over. 

“Jim?” Xena asked, hearing him yelp with pain. 

“Looks like we’ve got a twofer, boys. I can’t wait to see what she’s got in that purse” said the leader of the holdup gang. Xena ignored them and helped Jim up to his feet. 

“Careful, Xena” Jim shouted, as they each unsheathed small daggers and charged towards her. Xena reached for the door, which hadn’t quite closed, and gave it a massive tug. With a wrenching crunch, she tore it from its hinges, and then used it as a club to cut a wide swath against her four attackers. Three of them toppled, while the fourth managed to duck.

Xena dropped the door and walked confidently up the last hoodlum. “I just finished pounding a man the size of a gorilla into submission with my bare hands,” she said as she gazed down at him. “Why don’t you join your buddies on the pavement before I rip your fucking head off?” 

The man crumpled over with fear as he cowered before her. Xena grabbed Jim by the arm, and they started walking off. 

“Wait!” Jim said, running back. “Your purse, you dropped it when you smashed those muggers. Don’t worry, I’ll carry it for you,” he said as he grabbed it from the ground.

“Aww, how sweet,” Xena said. “I like the look of you carrying purse. It’s like you’re my girlfriend.”

Was she being sarcastic, or serious? Did she mean to wound his pride or give him an erotic thrill? Jim couldn’t tell, but whatever her aim was, he knew she was succeeding.

“I’ll work out with you tomorrow if you want,” Jim offered, trying to make sure of her intentions.

“Hell no,” Xena said. “Why would I want that?”

“You know...in case you’re embarrassed to have to come to your girlfriend’s...I mean, your boyfriend’s rescue,” he said. Was his voice getting higher, Xena wondered? It sounded less macho and more braying than she remembered.

“Why would I be embarrassed? I love the fact that you’re weaker than me. I love the contrast. I love that you don’t have to feel competitive with me. And I love protecting you,” Xena said. 

“What brought this on, my teasing?” she asked. 

“Yeah,” Jim admitted. “I guess I’m a little sensitive.”

“Don’t tell me my teasing bothers you that much,” she said, praying he’d answer the right way. The entire reason she’d given him the ring in the first place was so his pride wouldn't come between them. 

“No, I...kind of like it,” Jim admitted.

“You...like it?” Xena squealed. She couldn’t believe what she was hearing!

“Yeah,” Jim said, blushing and turning away. “It’s a bit of a turn...” he began, until Xena silenced him with a passionate kiss. 

“You’re going to have the time of your life when you get home,” Xena said, breathing heavily. “My little weakling,” she added.

Chapter Twelve

Xena and Jim both felt an undeniable giddiness as they reached the door of her apartment. 

“Wait!” Xena shouted, before Jim was about to step inside. “Let me carry you over the threshold, like we’re newlyweds and you’re my blushing bride.”

Jim did blush a little at that, and after Xena carried him inside, she kept him in her arms. With each step, he felt lighter and lighter, as though he was continuing to shrink. She didn’t put him down until she had reached the bedroom.

“You’re as light as a feather,” Xena said as she set him down. “I could bench press you with one hand.”

“Do it,” Jim said excitedly. Xena lay down, placed his narrow ass under her hand, and lifted. It was easy!

“Xena, I love you so much,” he gushed.

“I love you too, Jim,” she replied. “Though I don’t much care for ‘Jim.’ Far too masculine, don’t you think? You don’t deserve a manly name like that. How about Jimmy, ever been called that?”

“Just when I was a kid,” he replied. “I got picked on a lot.”

“If I only I was there, Jimmy,” she said. “I would have bashed their skulls in for you. Nobody but me makes fun of my little man.”

Jimmy reached his arms out, locking them around her neck and nuzzling his head on the edge of her shoulder.

“You like?” she asked. “You like how strong I am?”

“God, yes,” Jimmy said, gently caressing her rock hard, chunky bicep. It bulged each time she lifted him, and he started to pepper it with little kisses.

“Lick me,” she moaned softly.

“What?” Jimmy asked, not hearing her.

“I said lick my muscles, little boy,” Xena shouted, squeezing his small buns tightly with her strong fingers.

Jimmy didn’t need to be told again, eagerly lapping at and sucking on her powerful arm. The fact that it was bulging as she effortlessly lifted him made it even sexier. Her skin was a little salty, and he could feel himself grow harder as he gently bit down on her hard bicep. 

Xena’s patience soon evaporated, and she set him down on the bed, tearing open the Hawaiian shirt he was wearing and spraying buttons everywhere. She firmly pinched, pulled, and twisted his nipples with one smooth motion, and was rewarded by a girlish cry from Jimmy.

“I’m sorry,” Xena said. “Am I too rough with you? I forgot how delicate you are,” she said. 

“One wrong move and I’d just snap you to two,” she said, hooking her arm behind his back and constricting him for emphasis. They cuddled together like that for a few moments, listening to each other’s fast paced breathing.

“More,” Jimmy finally begged.

“More what?” Xena asked.

“More...teasing,” Jimmy said as he closed his eyes, still feeling embarrassed by the request.

“You’re literally a boy toy,...you’re like my little ragdoll,” Xena said, flicking back and forth against his nipple and watching his limbs flutter with spasms of pleasure. As her strong finger prodded him, she could see what definition was left in his pectoral muscles fading away, leaving him with the frame of the classic 98 pound weakling. She removed her top, and leaned her breasts into his face. 

“Good little Jimmy,” she said, as he suckled. Before long, she was undoing his pants, and then her own. “I wonder if you put your head between my legs, if my thighs could crush your little head like a nutcracker,” she said. 

Jimmy released her nipple with a wet pop, and slithered face first down her muscular torso to start lapping at her. 

“If you’re good, I’ll give you a spank,” she said, gazing on the bare bottom that rested just under her breasts. Jimmy’s tongue started to work wonderings on her womanhood, and she rewarded him with a few firm pats. As she edged closer to orgasm, she increased the intensity, leading to handprint shaped marks on his flesh. 

With each body-shaking spank, Jimmy could feel his cock grinding against Xena’s sweaty, sculpted, firm abs. Both the friction and the mental image the sensations conjured were heaven. Xena could feel the high pitched yelps of his climax through his mouth on her sex, and that drove her over the edge as well.

They decided to clean up with a shower, all through which Jimmy clung to her desperately. Xena gazed at the ring, and saw it had become a fine-line golden micro band, with a few little rhinestones in the middle. She offered to shampoo his hair, which she noticed was getting quite long and lovely. She bit her lip with pleasure as he let out a long, delicate sigh as her fingers massaged his scalp.

After they dried off, Jimmy curled up next to her on the bed. He curled up in the fetal position, rested his head on her bicep, and quickly drifted off to sleep.

Xena gently stroked the side of his face, her mind not quite ready for sleep. Things had changed so much, so quickly, she thought. When Jim was her trainer, they’d had quite a lot in common. They’d had not just an attraction, but a routine together working out. Now, that was probably gone for good, she realized. 

What would their day to day look like now? 

Xena closed her eyes, imagining the best case scenario. Would it be too soon to suggest it to him, she wondered? Perhaps, she thought, as she drifted off to sleep.

Epilogue

“Want me to go with you to the gym?” Jimmy offered, the next day. “You know, I typically don’t go down there that often. I’m so lucky I just happened to be there on the day you joined.” And, he thought, without the aid of a trainer or coach - thanks solely to the ring - Zoe went from self conscious and out of shape to the most amazing athlete he’d ever met: Xena, his perfect woman. 

Though he knew she didn’t remember it the way it had really happened, he was content that she loved him for who he was. Even when she’d given him the ring, he hadn’t changed a bit.

“You didn’t just happen to be there,” Xena said. “You were my...” she began, but then stopped. Thanks to the ring, he didn’t remember his role as her trainer, she realized. Jimmy only knew of himself as a skinny little weakling. 

She closed her eyes and tried to imagine what his memory of their first meeting might look like - her as an unapproachable Amazon, he as a scrawny, cute little runt out of place in his own father’s gym. He didn’t remember it as it was, she thought, but at least the scene was beautiful.

“Sure, you can come see me work out for a few hours,” Xena said, answering his original question. “I’m not going to deny my little darling a chance to gawk at my massive muscles,” Xena said, flexing for him suggestively. “But after that, I was thinking...I want you to go home a bit early.”

“Head home?” Jimmy asked as his expression going sour. “You want me go back to my Dad’s place?”

“No, silly, home here. My home,” Xena said. “Your home, our home.” 

“You want me to move in?” Jimmy said, his voicing rising even higher.

“Not just that...” Xena continued, feeling more confident. “I want you to clean the apartment, do the laundry, polish my trophy case, and have a gourmet meal on the table when I get back,” Xena said. 

“Sure, anything your heart desires,” Jimmy agreed.

“Anything?” Xena said, feeling even more emboldened. She had told herself last night that it was too soon to bring these things up, but she couldn’t resist. “I guess what I’m really saying is...I want you to be my wife,” she said.

“Really?” Jimmy asked, his voice now so high that she thought he might shatter glass. “Yes, yes, yes!” he cried, jumping up into her arms. “You’ve made me the happiest man in the world.”

“I’ll need to get you a new ring,” Xena said. “I think this one’s run its course,” she added.

Jimmy agreed. How could things be any more perfect?

The End

If you enjoyed this story, then check out my site, My Transformations, where you can read more of my work and find out about new projects. Also, consider reading the following stories that include Female Muscle Growth:

The Transformation Mall (Various, Including Female Muscle Growth)

The first ever crowdfunded transformation ebook, The Transformation Mall contains 11 vignettes and short stories, brimming with all manner of transformations as fantasy meets reality. Visit a fattening sandwich shop, a gym with a "Role Reversal" special that includes female muscle growth and male muscle loss, a clothing store with a gender-swap surprise, a comic book store that turns cheerleaders into nerds, and much, much more. 

Going Bananas (Ape Transformation, Female Muscle Growth, Weight Gain)

Georgie Simmons is the first human being to be sent to explore another planet. But when she lands, she finds she's stranded, and something is causing her to change. Can Georgie learn the truth before she loses what's left of her humanity, or will she lose her mind and "Go Bananas?"

Also, if you haven’t yet, check out the other stories in The Ring of Change Saga:

From Charlotte to Chavette: The Ring of Change Saga Book One (Weight Gain, Class Change)

Liam's a liar and a thief, a no good London "chav" who steals a ring that has the power to transform anyone who wears it into the perfect match for whoever gave it to them. Unfortunately, he said his perfect woman is "twice as bad" as him! The pretty and posh lady on whose finger the Ring of Change now sits is in for a surprise. She's going to transform into a woman who is fatter, trashier, sluttier...a real "chavette." Liam should have been more careful what he wished for! 

From Nikki to Nerdy: The Ring of Change Saga Book Three (Nerd, Weight Gain) 
Nikki is a blonde bombshell with a hot body and an empty mind. Zeke is the geeky leader of her study group, and begrudges the attention she gets from everyone. When Zeke's friend says Nikki is perfect, Zeke says that the perfect woman is someone even nerdier than he is. Soon, Zeke comes across the magical "Ring of Change," and it finds its way onto Nikki's finger. What will happen when Zeke gets his wish? Can he really handle a woman who can out-nerd him in every conceivable way

From Bridget to Bimbo: The Ring of Change Saga Book Four (Bimbo, Breast Expansion)

JD's first day of work at the coffee shop is derailed when he makes the wrong drink for an uptight, frumpy professor named Bridget Brimlow. He's roped into spending his day at her boring lecture - until he gives her the magical Ring of Change, with the power to change the wearer into the perfect person for whoever gave it to them. JD's perfect woman is a young, hot, big busted bimbo, so that's who Bridget becomes. Should JD have been more careful what he wished for?

OEBPS/images/image_8b88c35b-dcbf-45aa-a388-9eec4bd4b9ef8325966754199860849.jpg
?Z JMM

THE RING OF CHANGE SAGA





OEBPS/nav.xhtml

Table of contents

		Chapter One

		Chapter Two

		Chapter Three

		Chapter Four

		Chapter Five

		Chapter Six

		Chapter Seven

		Chapter Eight

		Chapter Nine

		Chapter Ten

		Chapter Eleven

		Chapter Twelve




Guide

		Cover

		Beginning






